IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

LISA GUZMAN, on behalf of herself and all Others Similarly Situated,

Appellant,

VS.

ROBERT L. JOHNSON, MIGUEL PENELLA, JOHN HSU, ARLENE MANOS, H. VAN SINCLAIR, ANDOR M. LASZLO, SCOTT ROYSTER, DAYTON JUDD, JOHN ZIEGELMAN, AMC NETWORK, INC., DIGITAL ENTRTAINMENT HOLDINGS, LLC, and RIVER MERGER SUB, INC, DOES 1 through 100, inclusive, and ROE CORPORTAIONS 1 through 100, inclusive,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed Mar 16 2020 03:38 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Supreme Court No. 79818

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a final judgment entered by the district court on a motion to dismiss. The judgment was entered on September 12, 2019. Written notice of entry was served on September 12, 2019. The notice of appeal was filed on October 11, 2019. Accordingly, this Court has jurisdiction pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1), and the appeal is timely under NRAP 4(a)(1).

II. **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This appeal is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court pursuant to Nev. R. App. P. 17(a)(9), (a)(11), and (a)(12). This case originated in business court and raises as a principal issue a question of first impression regarding the "inherent fairness" standard recognized by this Court in Foster v. Arata, 74 Nev. 143, 155 (1958) and Shoen v. SAC Holding Corp., 122 Nev. 621, 640 n.61 (2006). It also raises as a principal issue a question of statewide public importance: the reach and operation of NRS 78.138 in the context of a challenge to a buyout by a controlling stockholder.

Unless otherwise noted, all emphasis is added and all citations are omitted.

III. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether the business judgment rule is rebutted as a matter of law and the burden is placed on the fiduciary to "show good faith and the transaction's fairness" when an interested fiduciary's transactions with the corporation are challenged, as recognized in Foster, 74 Nev. 143 at 155; *Shoen*, 122 Nev. at 640 n.61;
- 2. Even if the business judgment rule is not rebutted as a matter of law when an interested fiduciary's transactions with the corporation are challenged, whether Appellant nevertheless pled facts sufficient to rebut the business judgment rule presumption afforded to the former members of the RLJ Board pursuant to NRS 78.138;
- 3. Whether a controlling shareholder is entitled to the protections of NRS 78.138 even though the statute plainly states that it only applies to directors and officers; and
- 4. Whether Appellant adequately pleads that RLJ's controlling shareholder breached the fiduciary duties it owed to RLJ's minority shareholders in connection with the Merger.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from the buyout of RLJ Entertainment, Inc. ("RLJ or the "Company") by Respondents AMC Network, Inc., its subsidiary, Digital Entertainment Holdings LLC ("Digital"), and its subsidiary, River Merger Sub Inc. (collectively, "AMC") for millions of dollars less than RLJ was worth (the "Merger").

By exploiting a combination of its holdings at multiple levels of RLJ's capital structure, a web of contractual rights, representation on the Board (defined below), its close relationships with Company insiders, and the Company's dwindling cash reserves, AMC – RLJ's *de facto* and *de jure* controlling stockholder – forced the Board to sell the Company to it and to Respondent Robert L. Johnson ("Johnson") (RLJ's founder and namesake) for an unfair price, pursuant to an unfair process, and on terms that provided AMC and Johnson with unique benefits not shared by common stockholders.

Appellant filed suit on October 30, 2018, prior to the closing of the Merger, on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated. In the Complaint, Appellant asserts two distinct causes of action. The first is against the members of the Board for breaching the fiduciary duties they owed to Appellant and the Class as officers and directors of AMC. The second is against AMC for breaching the fiduciary duties it owed Appellant and the Class as RLJ's controlling stockholder. Appellant sought to enjoin the then-proposed Merger or, in the event the Merger was consummated (which it was), to recover damages for the breaches of fiduciary duties.

AMC and the members of the Board (collectively, "Respondents") filed a motion to dismiss the Complaint (the "Motion to Dismiss") on December 18, 2018, arguing that Nevada's business judgment rule, Nev. Rev. Stat. Ann. §78.138 ("Section 78.138"), mandated dismissal of both causes of action. A hearing was held

by the district court (Honorable Elizabeth Gonzalez) on June 17, 2019. The Court summarily found that the allegations in the Complaint fail to state a claim upon which relief could be granted, for the reasons set forth in the pleadings and in the argument of counsel, and granted the Motion to Dismiss in its entirety. This appeal ensued.

V. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. The Relevant Parties

Respondents Johnson, Miguel Penella, John Hsu, Arlene Manos, H. Van Sinclair, Andor M. Laszlo, Scott Royster, Dayton Judd, and John Ziegelman are the former members of the RLJ Board of Directors (collectively, the "Board" or "Director Defendants"). JA-1:5-8 (¶¶10-19). Johnson was also the founder of RLJ and served as the Board's Chairman, and Penella served as RLJ's Chief Executive Officer ("CEO"). JA-1:5-6 (¶¶10-11). Hsu and Manos served as AMC's director designees on the Board pursuant to the Investment Agreement (defined below) between RLJ and AMC. JA-1:6-7 (¶¶12-13).

While on the Board, the principal source of income for Sinclair, Royster, and Penella was derived from RLJ or its affiliates. JA-1:46-47 (¶112). Sinclair made his living as outside counsel to the Company and to Johnson, and nearly all of his professional work was tied to RLJ and its affiliates. JA-1:46-47 (¶112). Indeed, since 2003, Sinclair has served as president, chief executive officer, and general counsel

of the RLJ Companies, a group of companies owned by Johnson. JA-1:7 (¶14), 46-47 (¶112). Royster's only apparent current source of income not involving RLJ or its affiliates comes from his service as CFO of a not-for-profit. JA-1:46-47 (¶112). And director Penella has been CEO of RLJ since 2013 and a director since 2012. JA-1:6 (¶11), 46-47 (¶112). In addition to RLJ, Judd, Laszlo, and Ziegelman all served on the boards of private or publicly-traded companies or work for financial management vehicles that regularly advise buyers and sellers in public mergers and acquisitions matters. *See* JA-1:46 (¶111).

Until the Merger, RLJ was a subscription-based digital channel company. JA-1:13 (¶35). AMC owns and operates cable television brands. JA-1:13-14 (¶36). AMC was, at all relevant times, the *de facto* and *de jure* controlling stockholder of RLJ, beneficially owning a majority of AMC's stock.² JA-1:8-9 (¶20), 17 (¶43).

B. Background to the Merger

On August 19, 2016, RLJ entered into a strategic partnership (the "Investment Agreement") with Digital (AMC's subsidiary), pursuant to which Digital, in a separate credit agreement (the "Credit Agreement"), agreed to provide RLJ with a \$60 million seven-year term loan and a \$5 million one-year term loan

The Proxy provides conflicting accounts of AMC's beneficial ownership, with amounts ranging from 51.9% to 70.6% of RLJ's stock. JA-1:8-9 (\P 20-21 & n.7), 17 (\P 43 & n.8).

and RLJ issued warrants to Digital to purchase AMC stock (the "AMC Warrants"). JA-1:14 (¶37). The AMC Warrants were exercisable at any time in AMC's discretion and, if exercised in full, would provide Digital with at least 50.1% of RLJ's stock and thus a majority of its voting power. JA-1:14 (¶37). Pursuant to the Investment Agreement, for as long as Digital owned the AMC Warrants, or any amounts remained outstanding in respect of the term loans, AMC had the right to designate two directors to the Board,³ and, upon the exercise of the AMC Warrants in full, AMC had the right to designate a majority of the Board. JA-1:14 (¶37).

The Investment Agreement also prohibited RLJ from entertaining any acquisition proposal not approved by AMC (the "No-Shop Provision"). JA-1:14-15 (¶38-39). Thus, the Board had no ability to – and, in fact, did not – solicit proposals from or negotiate with any entities other than AMC. JA-1:15 (¶39). Indeed, the Company conceded in the Form DEFM14A Definitive Proxy Statement (the "Proxy") filed in connection with the Merger that this was one of the "risks and potentially negative factors in deliberations concerning the merger." JA-1:15 (¶39).

In connection with the Investment Agreement, on August 19, 2016, Johnson, RLJ SPAC Acquisition LLC, Peter Edwards, Morris Goldfarb (the "Principal Stockholders") and the Company also entered into a Stockholders' Agreement with

Two such director designees of AMC – Hsu and Manos – served on the Board at all relevant times. JA-1:14 (\P 37), 42-43 (\P 105).

Digital, pursuant to which (i) the Principal Stockholders granted Digital certain rights of first refusal with respect to the transfer of RLJ securities, (ii) the parties granted each other certain "tag-along" rights and "drag-along" rights with respect to certain sales by them of RLJ securities, and (iii) the Company granted the Principal Stockholders and Digital certain preemptive rights to purchase RLJ equity securities in certain future offerings. JA-1:5-6 (¶¶10), 16 (¶41).

As a result of these various agreements, from October 2016 to August 2018, Digital (1) was issued millions of RLJ shares as interest payments on the Investment Agreement loans, (2) purchased millions of RLJ shares, preferred securities that were convertible into shares, and warrants, and (3) exercised millions of the AMC Warrants. JA-1:16-17 (¶42). As a result, from the time that AMC approached the Board to begin the merger process through the execution of the Merger Agreement (defined below), AMC beneficially owned between 51.9% and 70.6% of RLJ's stock. *Supra* n. 2.

C. The Merger Process

On February 26, 2018, AMC proposed to acquire the shares of RLJ it did not yet own for \$4.25 per share (the "Initial Proposal"). JA-1:18 (¶45). In this letter, AMC made clear that it would "not sell [its] stake in [RLJ], or be part of any other process." JA-1:18 (¶45). AMC had the ability to follow through with this threat because (1) it held enough warrants to take majority control of RLJ at any time and

thus force a sale to itself or stop a sale to anyone else and (2) the Investment Agreement prohibited RLJ from entertaining any acquisition proposal not approved by AMC. JA-1:14-15 (¶¶37-39). AMC made clear that it would not waive this prohibition; indeed, to deter other bidders, it repeatedly stated both publicly and privately that "it was only a buyer (and not a seller) of the Company and would not vote for or otherwise support a transaction to sell the Company to any party, *at any price*, or support any other alternative strategic transaction involving the Company." JA-1:15 (¶39), 18 (¶45), 20-21 (¶¶52-53), 28-29 (¶71).

Before delivering the Initial Proposal to the Board, AMC secured the support of Johnson. Specifically, on February 26, 2018, Johnson publicly revealed that he had *already* negotiated the terms of his continuing employment with, and equity in, the post-Merger combined company; in fact, by this time, negotiations had progressed to the point where he and AMC had already reached an "agreement-in-principle" with respect to liquidity and corporate governance matters, as well as Johnson's role at the post-Merger company. JA-1:18 (¶46). The Proxy provides absolutely no detail or disclosure regarding these communications or negotiations. JA-1:18 (¶46).

In response to the Initial Proposal, the Board formed a two-member special committee (the "Committee") consisting of directors Laszlo and Royster – who, as admitted in the Proxy, were apparently the only members of the Board that

purportedly "had no commercial, financial or business affiliations or relationships with any of AMC, [] Johnson or any of their respective affiliates" JA-1:18-19 (¶47). While the Committee was given the authority to evaluate the Initial Proposal, to negotiate directly with AMC and the holders of Preferred Stock and warrants with respect to the Initial Proposal, and to approve any transaction proposed by AMC, it was *not* given authority to consider bids from, or negotiate with, any potential buyers other than AMC. JA-1:18-19 (¶47), 25 (¶62).

Thereafter, the Committee engaged Greenberg Traurig, LLP ("Greenberg") and Allen & Company LLC ("Allen.") as its legal and financial advisors. JA-1:19 (¶48). Notably, Greenberg previously represented RLJ Acquisition, Inc., a company controlled by Johnson, in connection with a 2012 transaction that resulted in the creation of RLJ. JA-1:19 (¶48).

On March 16, 2018, the Committee sought to obtain authority from the Board to explore alternative strategic transactions, including soliciting potential third-party buyers *other than AMC*. JA-1:19-21 (¶¶49, 52). In response, director Hsu, *on behalf of AMC*, sent a letter to the Committee reiterating that AMC would not support a sale to *any* party, at *any* price, or support *any* other strategic transaction involving RLJ other than a sale to AMC. JA-1:20-21 (¶52). Hsu also warned that, if the Committee were to explore other alternatives, it "would be an exercise in futility" given AMC's beneficial ownership of more than 50% of RLJ's voting power, the

No-Shop Provision, and AMC's status as lender for all of RLJ's outstanding senior debt. JA-1:20-21 (¶52), 42 (¶104). The Board declined to allow the Committee to shop the Company or pursue alternatives. JA-1:22 (¶54).

On April 2, 2018, the Committee determined that the Initial Proposal was "materially inadequate and not a sufficient basis" upon which to negotiate. JA-1:21 (¶53). Nevertheless, it directed Allen to conduct a valuation of RLJ and to thereafter grant AMC full due diligence. JA-1:21 (¶53), 24 (¶59). The Committee also determined that "it would not be productive to conduct a market check of the Company." JA-1:21 (¶53).

The Committee also began the process of revising management's five-year base case financial forecasts (the "Initial Base Case") downward by applying more conservative assumptions. JA-1:22-23 (¶56). Notably, AMC's designated directors (including Hsu) received and reviewed the Initial Base Case before the Committee reduced these forecasts. JA-1:22 (¶55).

The purported reason for the downward adjustment was that the Committee had "concerns" that the growth projections might be hard to achieve on the anticipated timelines. JA-1:22-23 (¶56). Yet the Proxy is silent as to whether any members of management shared these "concerns." JA-1:23 (¶57). To the contrary, just two weeks earlier, members of management made public comments that were contrary to these alleged new concerns. On March 15, 2018, Penella, the CEO, in

discussing the Company's fourth quarter and full year 2017 results, remarked that "2017 was an instrumental year of strategic, financial and operating achievement, benchmarking well against our long-term strategic growth plan." JA-1:40 (¶99). In fact, for the full year 2017, gross profit had increased 40.7%. JA-1:40 (¶96). The Company's fourth quarter results were even stronger, reflecting a 52% increase year-over-year in gross profit. JA-1:40 (¶97). In that same March 15, 2018 announcement, Johnson commented: "[W]e expect the Company's timely strategy of increasing investments to drive accelerating value creation for subscribers and investors." JA-1:40 (¶98). And then-CFO Nazim Rostom remarked: "[W]e enter 2018 with strong momentum to deliver another year of growth in revenue, gross margin and bottom-line profitability." JA-1:41 (¶100). That day, RLJ's common stock set a new 52-week high. JA-1:41 (¶101).

Just a few days after the Committee directed management to reduce the Company's projections, then-CFO Rostom suddenly announced that he was leaving the Company. JA-1:23-24 (¶58), 49 (n.10). Although RLJ stated that it had initiated a search for his replacement, no CFO was ever appointed during the process leading up to the Merger. JA-1:23-24 (¶58), 49 (n.10).

On April 14, 2018, Allen delivered to Citigroup Global Markets Inc. ("Citi"), AMC's financial advisor, a five-year base case forecast prepared by Company management (the "Revised Forecast"). JA-1:25 (¶63). Allen subsequently delivered

to Citi an updated base case forecast (the "Updated Base Case") JA-1:25 (¶63). The Proxy does not disclose how the Revised or Updated Base Case Forecast differed from the Initial Base Case. JA-1:25 (¶63).

Thereafter, on May 2, 2018, AMC presented a revised proposal to acquire the non-affiliate shares for \$4.92 per share (the "Second Proposal"). JA-1:26 (¶65). Although the Committee determined that the Second Proposal was still substantially below the price at which it would be willing to engage in negotiations, the Committee nonetheless continued to engage with AMC. JA-1:26 (¶66).

In its May 21, 2018 meeting, the Committee discussed – apparently for the first time – the lack of viable alternatives as a result of AMC's ability to acquire majority voting control, the inability of the Committee to "shop" the company to potential third-party buyers, and the likely impact on the price of RLJ stock if a proposed transaction with AMC was publicly withdrawn. JA-1:28-29 (¶71). At this meeting, the Committee also discussed – again, apparently for the first time – the implied valuation of the non-affiliate shares of RLJ stock. JA-1:28 (¶70).

At a meeting on May 16, 2018, the Committee set an arbitrary floor of \$6.00 per share and it inexplicably resolved to communicate this to Hsu, rather than submitting a counter-proposal. JA-1:27-28 (¶69). The following week, on May 22, 2018, Hsu offered \$5.95 per share – just below the \$6.00 floor. JA-1:29 (¶72). In response, the Committee reiterated that \$6.00 was the absolute minimum at which

negotiations would proceed – again, inexplicably refusing to submit a counteroffer – and Hsu then offered \$6.00 per share. JA-1:29 (¶72). Following a brief adjournment, the Committee then indicated that it was now willing to accept \$6.25 per share, and Hsu agreed, thus ending "negotiations." JA-1:29 (¶73).

The farcical nature of these "negotiations" is highlighted by additional facts that cast further doubt on the fairness and integrity of the process. For example, AMC was provided with projections that showed, and was told by the Committee, that RLJ would likely be unable to maintain the Minimum Cash Balance Requirement under the Credit Agreement (as defined therein) with AMC. JA-1:24-25 (¶60-61). This provided AMC with even more leverage on RLJ and set the stage for future downward revisions to its forecasts. JA-1:24 (¶60).

In addition, at several meetings, the Committee and its advisors discussed the absence of a condition to closing requiring approval of the Merger Agreement by the holders of a majority of the outstanding non-affiliate shares of RLJ stock (a "Majority-of-the-Minority Provision"). JA-1:29-30 (¶74), 32 (¶81). Greenberg indicated that it would include such a provision in the draft merger agreement, as such provisions were common in take-private transactions like the Merger and provided useful reference points for transactions involving Nevada corporations. JA-1:29-30 (¶74). Nevertheless, no such provision was included in the Merger Agreement (defined below).

Moreover, Greenberg repeatedly reminded the Committee that it was an agent for the interests of the non-affiliate common stockholders only and that the rights of the Preferred Stockholders were contractual in nature, such that they had no right to vote on the Merger. JA-1:34-35 (¶¶88-90), 44-45 (¶109). Nevertheless, the Committee repeatedly engaged in discussions about the Merger and valuation with the Company's Preferred Stockholders (represented by Judd and Zeigelman), as well as the vesting of equity awards for RLJ insiders, despite the fact that the Committee recognized that it was supposed to be negotiating solely for the non-affiliate stockholders. JA-1:26 (¶64), 31-32 (¶¶79, 82). Indeed, Judd, who had been nominated by the Company's Preferred Stockholders, had multiple conversations with Royster, and sent a letter to Johnson and the Board, regarding the substitute preferred stock that was required to be offered to the Preferred Stockholders under the terms of the Preferred Stock in the Merger. JA-1:33-35 (¶¶84-90), 43-44 (¶¶107-108). Even though the Preferred Stockholders had no role at the bargaining table with AMC and the Committee, Royster communicated Judd's concerns to Hsu. JA-1:33-34 (986). Finally, and equally as inappropriate, between June 28 and July 3, 2018, Greenberg and AMC's legal advisor negotiated, among other things, the provisions of the proposed charter and bylaws of the surviving company – even though the non-affiliate shareholders would be precluded from rolling over their stock into the post-Merger combined company. JA-1:33 (¶85).

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