In the Supreme Court of the State of Nevada

LISA GUZMAN, APPELLANT,

ν.

Electronically Filed Apr 30 2020 05:25 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

ROBERT L. JOHNSON; MIGUEL PENELLA; JOHN HSU; ARLENE MANOS; H. VAN SINCLAIR; ANDOR M. LASZLO; SCOTT ROYSTER; DAYTON JUDD; JOHN ZIEGELMAN; AMC NETWORKS INC.; DIGITAL ENTERTAINMENT HOLDINGS, LLC; AND RIVER MERGER SUB, INC., RESPONDENTS.

ON APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT, CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA (A-18-783643-B) (THE HONORABLE ELIZABETH GONZALEZ)

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

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

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

NRS 78.138 sets out a clear pathway for a board to follow if it wants a corporate transaction to proceed with minimum litigation risk. This appeal seeks to replace that regime, in the instance of a transaction with a controlling stockholder, with a process that would maximize litigation risk.

It was a tactical error for Guzman to choose the Merger as the forum to advocate for new legal standards because the Complaint demonstrates how well the current ones work. As the Complaint concedes, AMC had the leverage to force the Merger upon RLJE. Had AMC done so, however, and taken the decision to merge out of the hands of independent RLJE Board members, the Merger would have lost the benefits of the standards of review codified by NRS 78.138 and been vulnerable to litigation that was not constrained by business judgment rule deference. Instead, AMC eschewed coercion and put matters into the hands of the Board with the knowledge that, if the Board acted independently and in good faith and approved the Merger, the transaction should be free from litigation attack. The Board, also guided by the statute, turned the matter over to two directors whose

independence was unassailable and who eventually approved the Merger. The District Court, focusing, as NRS 78.138 directs it to, on the independence of the Special Committee members, found the Complaint's allegations in that regard highly deficient, and dismissed the Complaint. Everything worked as it should have under the Nevada statutory regime—AMC was incentivized to rely on the Board, the Board was incentivized to rely on independent directors, and the parties were rewarded for their adherence to the statute by the litigation being terminated at the pleading stage.

The legislative history of NRS 78.138 explicitly states that the purpose of the statute is for "the laws governing domestic corporations to be clear and comprehensible" to "domestic corporations, their directors and officers, and their stockholders, employees, creditors and other constituencies." *See* NRS 78.012(1). Guzman's argument that, in a transaction with a controlling stockholder, the board and the controlling stockholder have the burden of proving the "inherent fairness" of the merger, and that such a burden can only be discharged after a full trial, would achieve precisely the opposite result of what was intended by the statute. "Clarity" could only be achieved after the defendants expended considerable resources in defense of the claim and only after awaiting a jury's interpretation of the amorphous concept of "inherent fairness." Such a

regime would impose burdens on corporations, their boards and stockholders, and the courts that currently do not exist.⁶

There is no Nevada legal precedent for the standards sought by Guzman. NRS 78.138 provides that directors "are presumed to act in good faith, on an informed basis and with a view to the interests of the corporation." NRS 78.138(3). The statute makes no exception for transactions between a corporation and its controlling stockholder, and this Court recently held that courts must give effect to the plain language of NRS 78.138 and cannot apply standards other than those set forth in the statute to situations that fall within the statute's scope. *See Chur* v. *Eighth Judicial Dist. Court*, 136 Nev. Adv. Op. 7, 458 P.3d 336, 339-41 (Nev. 2020) ("NRS 78.138 provides the sole mechanism to hold directors and officers individually liable for damages in Nevada.").

The case law cited by Guzman is inapposite. *Foster*, 74 Nev. 143, 325 P.2d 759, and *In re Western World Funding, Inc.*, 52 B.R. 743 (Bankr. D. Nev. 1985) ("*World Funding*"), were both decided years before NRS 78.138 was enacted. (App. Br. at 20.) And this Court recently disavowed *Shoen* v. *SAC*

Even Delaware has shifted toward a regime that allows defendants in controller buyout situations to avoid prolonged litigation. Whereas all transactions with controlling stockholders were once subjected to the "entire fairness" standard of review, now business judgment review applies to such transactions if "the procession of the transaction [was conditioned] on the approval of both [an independent] Special Committee and a majority of the minority stockholders." *See Kahn* v. *M&F Worldwide Corp.*, 88 A.3d 635, 645 (Del. 2014).

Holding Corp., 122 Nev. 621, 137 P.3d 1171 (2006)—the only case cited by Guzman in support of the "inherent fairness" standard that was decided after the statute's enactment—to the extent that *Shoen* can be read in a manner that conflicts with the plain wording of NRS 78.138. *See Chur*, 136 Nev. Adv. Op. 7, 458 P.3d at 339-41.

Guzman's ardent advocacy for a new legal standard is obviously motivated by her lack of any real grounds to rebut NRS 78.138's presumption that the Special Committee members acted in good faith in approving the Merger—a weakness that was obvious to the District Court at oral argument. (See 3 JA 597 ("Oh, that's all you['ve] got?").) Though Guzman larded the Complaint with immaterial allegations of interest regarding the directors who were not on the Special Committee, the only directors' interest that is relevant is that of the Special Committee members as they are the directors to whom the Merger decision was delegated. The primary allegation of the Special Committee members' self-interest is that they were motivated by fear of being removed from the board of a public company and the attendant reputational harm (even though there is no companion allegation that AMC made any threat to remove them). Guzman cites no case finding that directors were interested because of their fear of removal. The contention is facially absurd—directors are removed from boards every day and any removal here would have been because the Special Committee members lost

the support of a controlling stockholder, not because they engaged in any sort of misbehavior. Moreover, the Merger, by its terms, resulted in the removal of the Special Committee members from the Board; to the extent these directors did fear removal, they overcame it in order to make what they viewed as the appropriate decision.

Guzman makes no effort to demonstrate that the Complaint overcomes the exculpation of director liability in NRS 78.138(7), as she does not allege that any of the directors engaged in "intentional misconduct, fraud or a knowing violation of law." Her only argument on this point is the fallback that the question is a factual one that should have been determined at trial. But this argument fails because plaintiffs are not gifted trials without first making sufficient allegations in their complaint. Guzman did not do so and therefore has not adequately pleaded a damages claim against the directors as a matter of law.

Finally, with respect to AMC, Guzman argues that NRS 78.138 establishes standards of review for the decisions of directors, not controlling stockholders. That argument is a red herring because, as Guzman concedes, the only decision at issue here was made by a Special Committee of two independent directors. (1 JA 18-19 ¶ 47.) There is no allegation as to what AMC did to breach any duty it had other than to make the acquisition bid in the first place and exercise

its stockholder-granted contractual rights under the Investment Agreement, neither of which could possibly be actionable.⁷

VI. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The District Court's dismissal of Guzman's action is subject to *de novo* review by this Court. *Slade* v. *Caesars Entm't Corp.*, 132 Nev. 374, 379, 373 P.3d 74, 78 (2016). Pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5), a complaint should be dismissed if it appears that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts that, even if accepted as true by the trier of fact, would justify relief. *See Buzz Stew, LLC* v. *City of N. Las Vegas*, 124 Nev. 224, 228, 181 P.3d 670, 672 (2008).

VII. ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm the District Court's dismissal of the Complaint because Guzman relies on a legal standard that is inconsistent with Nevada law and the Complaint contains no allegations sufficient to overcome the protections afforded to boards of directors under NRS 78.138.

It is not settled under Nevada law what fiduciary duties, if any, a controlling stockholder owes minority stockholders. The main authority for such duties is this Court's *dicta* in *Cohen* v. *Mirage Resorts, Inc.*, observing that majority stockholders can have "limited fiduciary duties to minority shareholders." 119 Nev. 1, 12, 62 P.3d 720, 727 (2003). This Court did not, however, elaborate on the scope of those duties or find that a controlling stockholder had breached them.

A. THIS COURT SHOULD NOT SUPPLANT THE CODIFIED BUSINESS JUDGMENT RULE WITH APPELLANT'S "INHERENT FAIRNESS" STANDARD.

Guzman asks this Court to hold that the business judgment rule codified by NRS 78.138 is automatically "rebutted" as a matter of law whenever a Nevada corporation transacts with a controlling stockholder, and that "Respondents bear the burden of proving both good faith and the inherent fairness of the Merger." (App. Br. at 21.) She also contends that the "inherent fairness" standard immunizes her Complaint from dismissal at the pleading stage because it requires a "fact-intensive" inquiry that is "not suited for resolution on a motion to (App. Br. at 33.) Guzman essentially asks this Court to create a dismiss." precedent entitling any stockholder who challenges a transaction between a Nevada corporation and its controlling stockholder to a trial assessing the "inherent fairness" of the transaction, irrespective of the substance of the stockholder's This Court should reject Guzman's attempt to rewrite Nevada complaint. corporate law and introduce uncertainty into any transaction between a corporation and its controlling stockholder.

Nevada has a straightforward statutory scheme for judicial review of a decision by a board of directors: directors "are presumed to act in good faith, on an informed basis and with a view to the interests of the corporation." NRS 78.138(3). To overcome this presumption Plaintiff must allege fraud, lack of due care, or interest of the directors. *See Wynn Resorts, Ltd.* v. *Eighth Judicial*

Dist. Court, 133 Nev. 369, 376-77, 399 P.3d 334, 343 (2017). Neither the statute nor the case law interpreting it provides that the business judgment rule is inapplicable to, or automatically rebutted by, transactions between a corporation and its controlling stockholder.⁸

Guzman relies on four cases for her argument to the contrary, three of which were decided before the adoption of NRS 78.138, a fourth that was recently disavowed in relevant part by this Court, and all of which are clearly distinguishable from this case.

Foster and World Funding were decided, respectively, 33 and 6 years prior to the Nevada Legislature's adoption of NRS 78.138 in 1991. (App. Br. at 19-20; 1991 Nev. Stat., ch. 442, § 2, at 1184.) Guzman also cites, for the first time on appeal, a 1986 federal case that briefly discusses Nevada law, Drobbin v. Nicolet Instrument Corp., 631 F. Supp. 860 (S.D.N.Y. 1986), which also pre-dates the enactment of NRS 78.138.

Shoen—the only one of the four cases cited by Plaintiff that was decided after the adoption of NRS 78.138—did not address the statute. Instead, it clarified the applicable standard for determining whether making demand on a

Guzman states that Respondents, in their arguments before the District Court, failed to cite a single case stating that Nevada recognizes no deviation from the business judgment standard for transactions with controlling stockholders. (App. Br. at 29.) That is because the statute is so clear on the point that apparently no Nevada plaintiff has heretofore put forth Guzman's argument.

P.3d at 1184. In a footnote, it cited the *Foster* "inherent fairness" language to note that a derivative plaintiff carries the burden of demonstrating demand futility even if it does not carry the burden on the underlying claim. 122 Nev. at 640 n.61, 137 P.3d at 1184 n.61.

In Chur, this Court rejected a similar attempt to use dicta in Shoen to impose a director liability standard that conflicted with the express language of NRS 78.138. 136 Nev. Adv. Op. 7, 458 P.3d at 340. In *Chur*, the district court had held that gross negligence could be a basis for director liability even though it is not an enumerated standard for such liability in NRS 78.138. Id. at 340. This Court reversed the district court's holding because "[a]s is clear from the plain language of NRS 78.138, the statute provides for the sole circumstance under which a director or officer may be held individually liable for damages stemming from the director's or officer's conduct in an official capacity." Id. (emphasis added). This Court refused to recognize a new basis for liability based on dicta from Shoen because it "conflict[ed] with the plain language of NRS 78.138." Id. Likewise, Guzman's contention that Shoen, Foster, Drobbin, and World Funding command the application of an "inherent fairness" standard to review the Merger conflicts with the plain language of the statute and should be rejected. See id.

Moreover, neither Foster, World Funding, nor Drobbin are applicable here for the additional reason that all three cases involved self-dealing by officers and directors. In *Foster*, the defendants purchased real estate from a corporation of which they were officers and directors, and thereafter sold it to third parties. 74 Nev. at 146, 325 P.2d at 760. Similarly, World Funding concerned an action by a trustee in bankruptcy proceedings against directors and officers for fraudulently converting corporate funds for their own use by, for example, using the funds "to pay . . . personal expenses, such as rent, utilities, cleaning, and clothing." 52 B.R. at 763. The *Drobbin* court—which, again, was not a Nevada court but a federal court in New York attempting to interpret Nevada law—found that the transactions at issue "must under the Nevada statute be scrutinized for fairness" because the corporation's directors voted for agreements under which the controlling stockholder would "pay [the directors] significant sums of money which were unavailable from any other source then known," 631 F. Supp. at 898-99—not because the transactions were between a corporation and its controlling stockholder, see id. at 899-900. These cases bear no relation to this case where there are no allegations that the Special Committee members took anything out of the company for their own use; instead they are challenged for an exercise of business judgment, which is precisely what NRS 78.138 addresses.

Guzman contends that Respondents took the position before the District Court that NRS 78.138 "legislatively overruled" *Foster* and *Shoen*. (App. Br. at 29-30.) In fact, Respondents argued that *Foster* and *Shoen* cannot be read as creating a distinct standard that contradicts and supplants the plain language of NRS 78.138 whenever there is a transaction between a Nevada corporation and a controlling stockholder. (*See* 3 JA 542-45.) This Court's ruling in *Chur* confirms that argument was correct. Guzman also points out that Senate Bill 203, which amended NRS 78.138 in 2017, did not state in its legislative history that it "overruled" *Foster*, *World Funding*, and *Shoen*. (App. Br. at 30-32.) However, it did not need to do so, as the statute's scope is apparent from its plain language, as confirmed by *Chur*. 136 Nev. Adv. Op. 7, 458 P.3d at 340.

Guzman's focus on the 2017 amendment to the statute is misguided, as the good-faith presumption in NRS 78.138(3) was added to the statute in 1999 and the limitation on director liability in NRS 78.138(7) was added in 2001. Guzman also focuses on a statement of legislative intent that was included in the version of the 2017 amendment that was introduced in the Nevada Senate, but which was omitted from the enacted version. (*See* App. Br. at 31-32; S.B. 203, 79th Leg. (as introduced by Nevada Senate, Feb. 22, 2017); S.B. 203, 79th Leg.

The 2017 amendment to NRS 78.138 did not substantively change the law but merely clarified the existing limitation on director liability. *See* Hearing on S.B. 203 Before the Assemb. Comm. on Judiciary, 79th Leg. 55 (Nev. May 25, 2017).

(Nev. 2017) (enacted).) What Guzman ignores is far more pertinent to this appeal—the language of the actual enacted bill, which demonstrates why the exception to the statute argued for by Guzman would defeat the purpose of the statute.

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